# MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

NO.	2006-TS-01819	

WENDELL DAWSON

APPELLANT Brief

**VERSUS** 

BURT STEEL, INC., AND B & S ERECTION, INC.

**APPELLEES** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Wendell Dawson, Appellant;
- 2. James H. Colmer, Jr., Esq., Attorney for Appellant;
- 3. Williams, Heidelberg, Steinberger & McElhaney, P.A., Attorneys for Appellant;

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Appellees, Burt Steel, Inc. and B & S Erection, Inc., by finding that the Appellant failed to show that any duty which was breached was the proximate cause of the accident and resulting injuries.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## (A) Nature of the case.

This lawsuit arises from an accident where Appellant, Wendell Dawson, a truck driver, was injured during the unloading of steel that he delivered to a construction site in Waveland, Mississippi. During the unloading of the steel, a large, 40 foot girder fell striking Dawson, knocking him off his truck, with the girder landing upon him causing numerous and serious injuries.

#### (B) <u>Procedural history</u>

Dawson filed his Complaint against Burt Steel, Inc., Mapp Construction, Inc., the Great Atlantic and Pacific Tea Company d/b/a Sav-A-Center, and XYZ Corporation as a result of a December 8, 1994 accident where Dawson was injured during the unloading of steel that he delivered to a construction site in Waveland, Mississippi. C.P. 8-16. While other parties were involved in the litigation as defendants and third party defendants, they were dismissed and this appeal only concerns Appellees, Burt Steel, Inc. and B&S Erection, Inc.

Dawson filed his Complaint on December 5, 1997. Various written discovery was conducted and, in addition, numerous depositions were taken of the parties and witnesses. Burt Steel and B&S Erection filed Motions for Summary Judgment on December 18, 2002, (C.P. 34-215) which were argued before the Court in June, 2004

however, no ruling was issued. The case was ultimately set for trial on June 19, 2006. Mapp Construction filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on April 21, 2006, and Burt Steel and B&S Erection renewed their Motions for Summary Judgment against the Plaintiff on April 28, 2006. C.P. 651-660. Dawson responded to Burt Steel's and B&S Erection's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment on May 23, 2006, (C.P. 845-856) and thereafter an additional supplementation was filed by Dawson on June 1, 2006. C.P. 857-1088.

Voluntarily dismissed from this lawsuit were the Great Atlantic and Pacific Tea Company by Agreed Judgment entered April 25, 2006 and Magee Masonry by Agreed Judgment entered June 2, 2006. Mapp Construction settled its claim with Dawson prior to summary judgment being granted and was dismissed by Judgment of Dismissal entered August 11, 2006.

After argument before the Court, the Court ultimately entered an Order and Final Judgment granting summary judgment in favor of Mapp Construction, Burt Steel and B& S Erection on June 8, 2006. C.P. 1094-1097.

On June 19, 2006, Dawson filed a Motion to Reconsider (C.P. 1101-1203) which was summarily denied by Order entered July 3, 2006. C.P. 1204.

On October 23, 2006, Dawson filed a Notice of Appeal from the Order and Final Judgment entered on June 8, 2006 and from the Order denying the Motion to

Reconsider entered on July 3, 2006. C.P. 1212-1213.

As a result of the Clerk failing to provide a copy of the Order denying the Motion to Reconsider to the parties, both counsel agreed that Dawson should file his Notice of Appeal on or before October 23, 2006. C.P. 1214.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wendall Dawson was seriously injured as a result of a December 8, 1994, accident during the unloading of steel that he delivered to a Sav-A-Center construction site in Waveland, Mississippi. Dawson was an employee and truck driver for Vulcraft Steel, a fabrication company that was hired by Burt Steel to deliver various steel to the construction site. Burt Steel and/or B&S Erection were to unload the steel upon arrival at the site. Mapp Construction Company was the general contractor for the Sav-a-Center.

On December 7, 1994, Vulcraft notified Burt Steel and B&S Erection that four loads of steel would be delivered on December 8, 1994 to the Sav-a-Center construction site. Pursuant to Vulcraft's company policy, Vulcraft would contact Burt Steel and B&S Erection on the day prior to the delivery date, in order to verify there would be someone at the construction site to unload the steel. This was done to prevent Vulcraft from having to return to its distribution center with a load of steel. In addition, Mapp Constuction also contacted Burt Steel and B&S Erection on December 7, 1994, to confirm the delivery and subsequent unloading of the steel.

Upon arrival at the construction site, Dawson noticed three carrier trucks loaded with steel that had not been unloaded. Dawson sought and found Mapp Construction superintendent, Jay Gordon, and inquired as to who would unload the

steel. After Dawson spoke with Jay Gordon, a telephone call was placed to Raymond Burt of Burt Steel and B&S Erection by Mr. Gordon to inquire as to who would unload the trucks. While on the telephone with Burt Steel and B&S Erection, a discussion ensued regarding possibly having a block mason unload the trucks. The block mason, who was ultimately engaged to unload the steel with a forklift and who was paid for unloading the steel by Burt Steel, was an employee of Magee Masonry who was on the job site in a different capacity laying mason blocks.

Due to the failure of Burt Steel or B&S Erection being present to unload the steel, Magee Masonry ultimately proceeded with the unloading of the steel at the request or suggestion of either Burt Steel, B&S Erection, or Mapp Construction. Wendell Dawson, as is standard practice in the industry, began the process of taking off the chains which were securing the various steel components on this truck. During the unloading process, in which Dawson ordinarily never participated, an unsupported 40 foot steel girder fell off of the truck striking Dawson, knocking him off of his truck and pinning him on the ground. Dawson was on the back of his truck acting as a spotter for Magee Masonry as a result of Burt Steel and B&S Erection not being present to unload the steel components.

The Court granted summary judgment finding that Dawson failed to show that any duty breached by Burt Steel or B&S Erection was the proximate cause of his

accident and injuries. The Court specifically found that Dawson offered no evidence as to what actually caused the steel girder to fall on him. The Court found that since Dawson could not prove what caused the steel to fall, all of his arguments as well as his expert's theories of negligence were pure speculation, which cannot survive summary judgment.

Dawson would respectfully submit that <u>precisely</u> what caused the unsupported 40 foot steel girder to fall is not the issue. The issue is the responsibility for the creation of the hazardous condition which allowed the steel girder to fall, a situation that Dawson submits would not have occurred but for the actions and/or inactions of Burt Steel and B&S Erection in engaging a non-professional to handle the job. There is no question but that (1) Dawson would normally never be involving in the unloading of his truck (2) neither Burt Steel nor B&S Erection were present to professionally unload the steel in question as they were required to do and, (3) a dangerous condition was created when a block mason subcontractor and Dawson were engaged in the unloading of the steel, which dangerous condition ultimately caused the accident. The question for the jury is who was responsible for the creation of the hazardous condition. A jury could find the hazardous condition was the responsibility of Burt Steel and B&S Erection, general contractor Mapp Construction. block mason subcontractor Magee Masonry, Dawson himself, or some combination

thereof. It will never be known exactly why the 40 foot steel girder tipped over, but it is clear the unloading process allowed the steel girder in question to fall. It is for the jury to determine if anyone, including Burt Steel and B&S Erection, are responsible for failing to be present as required to professionally unload the steel.

While neither Burt Steel nor B&S Erection were present on the day of the accident, their absence was the reason Dawson was injured as their absence and their actions in securing a block mason to handle their job provided the vehicle for the accident to ultimately occur.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The law is well established with respect to the grant or denial of a motion for The appellate court applies a de novo standard of review summary judgment. concerning the propriety of a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment. Montgomery v. Woolbright, 904 So.2d 1027, 1029 (Miss. 2004). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." MRCP 56(c). To survive a motion for summary judgment, the opposing party must establish that there is a genuine issue of material fact. Matthews v. Horseshoe Casino, 919 So.2d 278, 280 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)(citing Lowery v. Guaranty Bank & Trust Co., 592 So.2d 79, 81 (Miss. 1991)). The adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denial of the pleadings, but instead, in its response, the party must set forth facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Miller v. Meeks, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss. 2000). The evidentiary matters are viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Id. An issue of fact may be present where there is more than one reasonable interpretation of undisputed testimony or where materially different but reasonable inferences may be drawn from uncontradicted evidentiary facts. Dennis v. Searle, 457 So.2d 941, 944 (Miss. 1984).

Where there is doubt as to whether fact exists, the non-moving party gets the benefit of this doubt, and all other doubts. *Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Insurance Co.*, 635 So.2d 1357, 1360 (Miss. 1994). All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. *Simmons v. Thompson Machinery of Mississippi, Inc.*, 631 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1994). Summary judgment will only be affirmed if the Supreme Court is convinced after independent review of the record that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Merrimack Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. McBill* 674 So.2d 4 (Miss. 1996).

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. The Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Burt Steel, Inc. and B&S Erection, Inc. The central issue involves the creation of a hazardous condition and the party or parties responsible for the creation of the hazardous condition rather than the narrow issue regarding what specifically caused the unsupported 40 foot girder to fall injuring Dawson.

The granting of summary judgment centers on the Court's finding that neither Dawson nor his expert, Boyd T. Cochran, P.E., provided any reason as to what caused the steel girder to fall. And, as a result, "...all of his arguments as well as his expert's theories of negligence are pure speculation, which cannot survive summary judgment." C.P. 1095-1097. The 40 foot girder at issue stood for 30 minutes or so after Dawson removed the securing chains. Only after Magee Masonry removed a bundle of 35 foot joists did the 40 foot girder fall. Dawson submits there is amble evidence in the record, through both expert testimony, lay testimony, and otherwise, that the removal of the bundle of 35 foot joists by Magee Masonry created the hazardous condition/safety hazard which allowed the 40 foot girder to fall by removing its support. The creation of this hazardous condition/safety hazard, more likely than not, would have been avoided or prevented had the proper personnel been provided for the job. i.e., had Burt Steel or B&S Erection performed their job.

In Dawson's Supplemental Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment,

Dawson's expert clarified his opinions and the apparent misunderstanding regarding his opinions on the cause of the accident insofar as it relates to the reason or reasons for the 40 foot girder falling and striking Dawson. As stated by Mr. Cochran, "...once Mr. Dawson initially removed the chains from his load, his load of steel was stable. Thirty minutes or so later, Michael Magee removed a bundle of 35 foot joists which were supporting the 40 foot girder causing a dangerous condition or safety hazard to exist with the regard to the 40 foot girder which fell. The removal of the 35 foot joists ultimately allowed the 40 foot girder to fall by removing its support... More likely than not, an experienced steel crew would have recognized the dangerous condition or safety hazard which would result from removing the 35 foot joists and would have taken measures to secure the 40 foot girder to prevent it from falling. The lack of an experienced steel crew to unload Mr. Dawson's truck left two inexperienced men to do the job... The dangerous condition on the premises occurred and was created when Mapp Construction and/or Burt Steel, Inc. enlisted an inexperienced man to do a job requiring the expertise of a steel crew, which led to Wendell Dawson being the "spotter" who was injured after the 35 foot bundle of joists were removed and the hazardous condition being created as a result." C.P. 864-866.

The deposition of Forrest M. Mungo, designated expert for Burt Steel and B&S

Erection, supports Dawson's arguments. Mr. Mungo agreed that it was not Dawson's responsibility to unload the girders on the back of his truck, Dawson's responsibility being to unbind his chains and allow the "steel experts" to unload the steel. C.P. 1020. Mr. Mungo also agreed that a professional steel handler would be best at deciding in what order to take the steel off Mr. Dawon's truck and that block mason, Michael Magee, was not a professional in the steel business. C.P. 1029. Mr. Mungo agreed that it was foreseeable someone would get injured if Mr. Dawson's load of steel was not unloaded properly and agreed that it was foreseeable that the 40 foot girder at issue would fall if it did not have any bracing to secure it. C.P. 1032. Mr. Mungo agreed that the 40 foot girder at issue, unsupported as it was when it fell, created a hazard that Dawson did not recognize. C.P. 1038, 1042. Mr. Mungo opined that it would not be advisable to have an inexperienced person controlling the unloading of the steel nor would you want an inexperienced or unqualified person controlling the unloading of the steel. C.P. 1032. Finally, Mr. Mungo agreed that had Burt Steel or B&S Erection been present with the men and equipment to properly unload the steel, Mr. Dawson would not have been injured. C.P. 1041, 1055.

While the exact cause of the steel girder falling will never be known, what allowed the steel girder to fall is clearly known. It is the creation of the hazardous situation which allowed the steel girder to fall which is the subject of Dawson's

lawsuit, a situation that Dawson has shown would not have occurred but for the actions and/or inactions of Burt Steel and B&S Erection. Unsupported steel beams sitting on edge create hazardous conditions, which is why professionals are engaged to handle steel. There is no question a hazardous condition existed which almost cost Dawson his life. A jury should be allowed to hear all of the evidence and determine who was responsible for the creation of the hazardous condition. A jury could find the hazardous condition was the responsibility of Burt Steel and B&S Erection, general contractor Mapp, block mason Magee Masonry, or Wendell Dawson, or some combination thereof.

According to Mapp Construction, the "arrangement" with Magee's Masonry to unload the steel was entered into out of necessity as a result of Burt Steel and B & S Erection's failure to be on the job site. The following testimony was taken from the deposition of Mapp Construction's corporate representative, Mark LaHaye:

- Q: How was it that you had a phone call from Raymond Burt?
- A: I think I called him, actually.

\*\*\*\*\*

- Q: Who was responsible for making sure that someone was there to unload the steel on Thursday, December 8<sup>th</sup>?
- A: B&S Erection.
- Q: And how did B&S Erection know to be there to unload the steel?

A: From Burt Steel, from Bo Burt.

\*\*\*\*\*

- Q: Do you know why no one was there on Thursday, December 8, 1994, to unload the steel?
- A: B&S was on another job and couldn't get to it, to this job in time to make the unloading.
- Q: And how did you learn that?
- A: From my conversation with Bo Burt the day before. He could not be certain that they were going to be there the next day.

\*\*\*\*\*

- Q: Tell me, if you can, everything you remember about your phone call with Raymond Burt on December 7, 1994.
- A: Confirmed that the joists and deck was still going to be delivered on the following day. And Bo made mention to the fact that B&S may or may not be there on time and he made arrangements to have somebody else there in their place.
- Q: Who made the arrangements for Magee's Masonry to unload the steel?
- A: Bo Burt.

C.P. 1064, 1065, 1066.

Raymond Burt, corporate representative for Burt Steel and B & S Erection, testified in his deposition that it was Burt Steel's responsibility to make sure the steel was delivered to job site on the scheduled day, and to be responsible for unloading

and erecting the steel once it arrived. See Exhibit "C", p. 41-42; and Exhibit "B", p 34. The following testimony was taken from the deposition of Raymond Burt regarding the arrangement with Magee's Masonry:

A: ... probably what happened was, Mapp sat there and worked it out with the block mason to unload it, and they would back charge it to us, because B&S is responsible to unload the steel. But B&S is not going to drive five hundred miles to unload a few trucks, you know. So - - and what contractors do is, they'll sit there, and they'll hire the block masons to do it. And the contractor is not going to pay for it. The contractor, you know, will take it out of our pay. But he's not going to make us go five hundred miles to unload something that's their rescheduling problem.

C.P. 984.

\*\*\*\*\*\*

After speaking with Jay Gordon, Dawson was informed by Magee's Masonry where to park his truck in order for it to be unloaded. Afterwards, Dawson unshackled the chains on his truck, except for the chain on the sixty-four (64) foot girder, in order for Magee's Masonry to begin unloading the steel. However, Magee's Masonry was unable to immediately begin unloading the truck because he had to catch up on his block mason work and informed Dawson it would be approximately (30) thirty minutes before the truck could be unloaded. With every chain on his truck except one unshackled, Dawson decided to go to Wal-Mart to buy some soft drinks. Dawson then returned to his truck in order to call Vulcraft

regarding the possibility of Dawson driving to Jackson, Mississippi to pick up some angle iron. C.P. 888.

While sitting in the cab of his truck, Dawson felt the truck move when Magee Masonry began unloading a bundle of girders from his truck. The truck's movement prompted Dawson to hang up the phone call with Vulcraft employee, Harold Nelson, because the sixty-four (64) foot girder was still chained to the truck. In addition, Dawson thought it would be prudent to act as a "spotter" for the block mason in order to show him where to insert the forks of the forklift in the forty (40) foot girder in order to keep it from damaging the sixty-four (64) foot girder that was still chained to the trailer. C.P. 889.

After Magee Masonry removed a bundle of thirty-five (35) foot girders, all of a sudden and without warning, Dawson was struck from behind by the forty (40) foot girder which knocked him down and landed upon him. Dawson suffered a separated shoulder, a broken thumb, and compound fractures in both of his legs, which resulted in severe and permanent injuries. For its services, Magee's Masonry charged Mapp \$275.00 to unload four trucks of steel and this amount was paid by Mapp and then deducted from payment to Burt Steel, with the approval of Raymond Burt on behalf of Burt Steel and B&S Erection.

Both Mapp and Burt Steel/B&S Erection cast the blame upon the other with

regard to the employment of Magee Masonry to unload the steel cargo. As a result, there is genuine issue of material fact as to which entity created the hazardous condition that injured Dawson. However, there is no dispute that both Burt Steel and B&S Erection had prior notice that the steel would be delivered on December 8, 1994, and they allowed and/or participated in retaining an inexperienced block mason to unload the steel without a "spotter."

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