MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-TS-01819

WENDELL DAWSON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

BURT STEEL, INC., AND B & S ERECTION, INC.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

EDWARD C. TAYLOR, MSB DAVID KRAUSE, MSB 1712 15TH STREET, SUITE 400 P.O. BOX 416 GULFPORT, MS 39502-0416 TELEPHONE: (228) 864-8117 FACSIMILE: (228) 864-6331

APPEAL NO. 2006-TS-01819

WENDELL DAWSON

APPELLANT

VERSUS

BURT STEEL, INC., AND B & S ERECTION, INC. APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

D. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Dawson claims that Burt Steel was negligent in failing to unload the steel that toppled over from the trailer on which Dawson was voluntarily standing, and such failure injured him. Nothing in the record supports this claim. Dawson admits that he does not know why the steel fell. His expert, Boyd Cochrane, also admits that he does not know why the steel fell.

Dawson argues that the real cause of his injuries is that Burt Steel was not present to unload the steel. Although Magee's Masonry successfully unloaded three trailers of steel similar to the steel on Dawson's trailer, Dawson also argues Magee was not qualified to unload the steel. Nothing in the record supports either assertion. Regardless, Dawson attempts to convert the issue of whether Burt Steel breached its contract with Mapp Construction by not being present on the morning of the incident into a negligent breach of duty owed to Dawson. The two legal theories are distinct and cannot be commingled to arrive at a triable claim. Dawson is required to put forth evidence that there is a genuine issue of material fact whether Burt Steel breached a duty owed to him and whether the breach caused Dawson to be injured. Since it is undisputed no one knows why the steel toppled over onto Dawson, he cannot show any duty otherwise owed to him and breached by Burt Steel caused him injury. It is undisputed that what *actually* caused him injury was the steel falling on him. It is further undisputed that despite Dawson voluntarily placing himself in harm's way, no one knows why the steel fell. It just did. Since Dawson had no disputed fact as to why the steel fell, the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Burt Steel, and its decision should be affirmed by this Court.

E. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT DAWSON FAILED TO PUT FORTH A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WHETHER BURT STEEL/B&S ERECTION BREACHED ANY DUTY OWED TO DAWSON WHICH CAUSED HIS INJURIES, THEREFORE SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATELY GRANTED TO BURT STEEL/B&S ERECTION.

a. Standard of review

An appellate court conducts a de novo review of a trial court's granting of a motion for summary judgment. *McKinley v. Lamar Bank*, 919 So. 2d 918, 925 (Miss. 2005). Our rules of civil procedure require the trial court to grant summary judgment where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The facts are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, with the movant bearing the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issues of material fact exist for presentation to the trier of fact. *Hardy v. Brock*, 826 So. 2d 71, 74 (Miss. 2002).

The party opposing the motion must be diligent and "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but instead the response must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact for trial." *Harrison v. Chandler-Sampson Ins., Inc.*, 891 So. 2d 224, 228 (Miss. 2005) (citation omitted). "If any triable issues of fact exist, the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed. Otherwise, the decision is affirmed." *Merrimack Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. McDill*, 674 So. 2d 4, 7 (Miss. 1996) (citations omitted). "[W]here a party opposes summary judgment on a claim or defense as to which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, and when the moving party can show a complete failure of proof on an essential element of the claim or defense, then all other issues become immaterial, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post*, 519 So. 2d 413, 416

(Miss.1988).

b. Applicable law

The elements of a negligence claim are duty, breach of that duty, proximate cause, and damages. *May v. V.F.W. Post 2539*, 577 So. 2d 372, 375 (Miss. 1991). To recover, a plaintiff must prove causation in fact and proximate cause. *Jackson v. Swinney*, 244 Miss. 117, 123, 140 So. 2d 555, 557 (Miss. 1962). "Only when the first two items are shown is it possible to proceed to a consideration of proximate cause since a duty and breach of that duty are essential to a finding of negligence under the traditional and accepted formula." *Foster v. Bass*, 575 So. 2d 967, 972 (Miss. 1990).

To survive summary judgment, the plaintiff must first establish the applicable standard or duty of care. *Donald v. Amoco Prod. Co.*, 735 So. 2d 161, 174 (Miss. 1999). "Duty and breach of duty are essential to finding negligence and must be demonstrated first." *Id*.

"Proximate cause of an injury is that cause which in natural and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause produces the injury and without which the result would not have occurred." *Delahoussaye v. Mary Mahoney's, Inc.*, 783 So. 2d 666, 671 (Miss. 2001). In order for a person to be liable for an act which causes injury, "the act must be of such character, and done

in such a situation, that the person doing it should reasonably have anticipated that some injury to another will probably result therefrom." *Mauney v. Gulf Ref. Co.*, 193 Miss. 421, 9 So. 2d 780, 780-81 (1942). "Foreseeability is an essential element of both duty and causation." *Delahoussaye*, 783 So. 2d at 671. "The inquiry is not whether the thing is to be foreseen or anticipated as one which will probably happen, but whether it is likely to happen, even though the likelihood may not be sufficient to amount to a comparative probability." *Gulledge v. Shaw*, 880 So. 2d 288, 293 (Miss. 2004). "However, remote possibilities do not constitute negligence from the judicial standpoint. ... That is, we do not charge the actor with a prevision or anticipation which would include an unusual, improbable, or extraordinary occurrence, although such happening is within the range of possibilities." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

c. Dawson's theory of liability is without a legal basis.

Dawson's argument to this Court is that it does not matter who or what actually caused the steel to fall. Rather, he argues that he was injured solely because Burt Steel failed to show up to unload the steel. This reasoning completely disregards the well-settled elements of negligence, and instead attempts to smear the boundaries of contract and tort law. Dawson's argument assumes the Court will acquiesce in his replacing the element of negligent breach of duty with the alleged breach of contract, and then follow along with his argument that his injuries flow naturally and uninterrupted from that contract breach. By Dawson's logic the Court should then disregard the undisputed (and dispositive) fact no one knows what caused the girder to fall off of the truck.

The theory is original and illogical. It disregards this State and the common law's long established requirements to prove negligence and conjoins pieces of two distinct legal theories. Dawson's theory of negligence not only disregards the law, but it also ignores the facts. We will now apply the actual law to the undisputed facts.

d. Dawson failed to establish a genuine issue of fact whether Burt Steel was negligent.

According to Dawson, Burt Steel's failure to arrive on site and unload the steel was the proximate cause of Dawson's injuries. Dawson did not present any facts to support his contention that Burt Steel was negligent, much less any evidence that actions or omissions of Burt Steel proximately caused his injuries. ³ Dawson

³Dawson's argument that there is a question of fact whether Burt Steel's conduct proximately caused the accident requires the court to disregard several undisputed facts, which are as follows: (1) Dawson could have returned the steel-laden trailer to Vulcraft (R. 92, Dawson Dep. at pp. 214-16); (2) On his own volition, Dawson climbed onto the back of his trailer while Magee Masonry removed the steel - an act which he admitted could have cost him his job; (R. at 80, Dawson Dep. at p. 145); (3) Magee agreed to unload the steel but was not compelled to do so (R. at 917-18); (4) Magee was capable of unloading the steel and successfully unloaded three other trailers of similar steel prior to unloading Dawson's trailer (R. at 77, Dawson Dep. at p. 125; R. at 923-24); (5) Dawson stood under the unshackled girders despite the obvious danger in doing so (R. at 80, Dawson Dep. at pp. 141-42).

must prove from the moment that Burt Steel did not arrive, a chain of events occurred, which naturally and inevitably, without any intervening force, caused Dawson to be knocked from the trailer by a girder and injured. The record is silent on this essential element of Dawson's claim.

The undisputed facts do not support Dawson's allegations that the conduct of Burt Steel caused or contributed to his injuries. Burt Steel had not been to the job site at the time of the accident. (R. at 76, Dawson Dep. at p. 116.) Neither company had been on the job site prior to the accident. (*Id.*). Neither were in charge of the job site or Dawson's trailer. Neither had loaded the trailer, nor even seen the steel that had been ordered from Vulcraft.

In summary, the companies were only aware that Vulcraft delivered the girders to the job site and that Mapp Construction had a contractor with a Lull onsite who had agreed to unload the steel. The steel girder which fell on Dawson was manufactured and loaded onto Dawson's trailer by Vulcraft. (R. at 66-67, Dawson Dep. at pp. 61-62.) Dawson was responsible for and did secure the steel with chains for transportation. (*Id.*) Dawson was responsible for removing the chains at the time the steel was to be unloaded. (R. at 67-68, Dawson Dep. at pp. 67-68.)

Dawson stated in his Appellant Brief he would "never normally be involving [*sic*] in the unloading of his truck," as he was on the day of the accident because

Burt Steel was not there. (Appellant Brief at p. 8.) However, he testified that he *had* done so "maybe once or twice, but I didn't make it a policy. You know, that's not my deal on it because it would get my job – that would be my job if the company knowed [*sic*] about it." (R. at 80, Dawson Dep. at p. 145.)

The parties agree no one knows why the steel fell or what actually caused it to fall. It just fell. Whether it fell due to incorrect loading, because the trailer was perched on a slight incline, a rock or some other obstruction had been beneath the girder or because the girders had expanded from sitting in the sunlight and caused them to become off balance, or because Magee bumped it, is pure speculation.

The case of *Int'l Paper Co. v. Townsend*, 2007 Miss. App. LEXIS 192 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) is factually similar to the Appellant's case, so should be considered. The relevant facts of *Townsend* follow.

The Plaintiff Townsend was delivering logs to a woodyard in Natchez owned by International Paper ("IP"). (*Id.* at *2.) The company that Townsend had contracted to haul for had loaded the logs onto his truck. (*Id.* at *5.) Another company added some additional logs to his truck. (*Id.*) Townsend checked the load at various times along the way to the IP woodyard, and thought it stable.

Upon arrival at the woodyard, Townsend got out of the truck and began to remove the first of two cables that secured the logs to the trailer. As he did this, a log rolled off of the trailer and injured him. (*Id.* at *6.) He sued IP under premises liability theory. (*Id.* at *7.) Townsend based his theory on IP failing to have an unbinding rack for log unloading, and because the road leading into the woodyard had potholes. (*Id.* at *7.) Trial was held, and IP moved for judgment as a matter of law, but their motion was denied. (*Id.*) A jury verdict was returned for Townsend, and IP moved for JNOV, or a new trial or remittitur, each of which was denied. IP appealed.

The Court of Appeals found that Townsend did not have enough evidence to create a jury question as to IP's liability, therefore erred in failing to grant IP's motion for JNOV. (*Id.* at *1.) The Court found as it did for the same reasons that Wendell Dawson's allegations must fail as a matter of law: there was no evidence that IP owed any duty to Townsend as he claimed, nor sufficient evidence for a jury to find on any one of Townsend theories of liability. (*Id.* at **11-12.)

The Court found that IP did not exercise sufficient control over Townsend's activities so as to create a duty toward him. (*Id.* at *15.) "However, if the plaintiff can show that 'the contract notwithstanding, the owner maintained substantial de facto control over those features of the work out of which the injury arose, we may have a horse of a different color.'... With the law thus stated, we find insufficient evidence to support a conclusion that IP exercised control over Townsend's activities

so as to create a duty. Unlike the defendant in *McCarthy*, IP exercised no control over that aspect of the work which gave rise to the injury." *Id.* (internal citations omitted.) The Court also found that the only two possible aspects of work which could have given rise to Townsend's injuries were the loading and unloading of the log which caused his injuries. (*Id.* at **15-16.)

The Court stated that IP did not play a part in loading the logs, and that Townsend was responsible for releasing the cables that held the logs to the trailer. (*Id.* at *16). Townsend, not IP, was "completely in charge when he made the decision to release the binders on his load." (*Id.* at *16.) Further, in regard specifically to premises liability, because the dangerous condition existed on Townsend's truck, IP had no duty to warn Townsend of that condition. (*Id.* at *17-18.)

The Court in *Townsend* also cited *Bevis v. Linkous Const. Co.*, 856 So.2d 535 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) as analogous in support of its finding that Townsend incorrectly charged IP with a duty to warn him of a hazard that did not exist on the IP premises, and that was not created by IP. (*Townsend*, 2007 Miss. App. LEXIS 192 at *20.) The Court cited *Bevis* to point out the logical impossibility of Townsend's argument that IP had an awareness of both the fact of the hazardous condition and an appreciation of the dangerous nature of the condition that was

superior to that of Townsend. (Id. at **19-20.)

Just as *Bevis* was analogous to *Townsend*, *Townsend* is analogous to the present case. Nothing in the deposition testimony or relevant facts support Dawson's allegations that Burt Steel caused Dawson's injuries.

Dawson has framed his appeal in theories and possibilities rather than facts because he does not know why the steel girder fell. As stated in *White v. Yellow Freight System, Inc*, 905 So. 2d 506, 512 (Miss. 2004), "verdicts are to be founded upon probabilities according to common knowledge, common experience, and common sense, and not upon possibilities, and a verdict cannot convert a possibility or any number of possibilities into a probability." Thus, Dawson cannot establish a negligence claim against Burt Steel.

e. Breach of contract is not negligent breach of duty.

Dawson's claim that Burt Steel caused him injury because they failed to appear onsite to unload the steel as required in its contract with Mapp is irrelevant. For purposes of this portion of the argument, we will assume that Burt Steel breached its contract with Mapp Construction in failing to arrive onsite on the morning of the incident.

The elements of a breach of contract are: (1) the existence of a valid and binding contract; (2) the defendant has broken or breached it; and (3) the plaintiff

has been thereby damaged monetarily. *Warwick v. Matheney*, 603 So. 2d 330, 336 (Miss. 1992). Dawson does not claim to have had a contract with Burt Steel, therefore he would have to be a third-party beneficiary in order to recover for Burt Steel's breach of its contract with Mapp Construction. A third-party beneficiary "may sue for a contract breach only when the alleged broken condition was placed in the contract for their direct benefit." *Rein v. Benchmark Constr. Co.*, 865 So. 2d 1134, 1145 (Miss. 2004).

Of course Dawson does not claim to have a cause against Burt Steel as a thirdparty beneficiary. Nor does he claim that Burt Steel's contractual agreement to unload the steel was for his benefit. He did not make this claim in his complaint, nor argue such a claim in the summary judgment proceedings below, and is therefore precluded from making the claim on appeal.

f. *Res ipsa loquitur* is not only inapplicable, but also precluded from appeal.

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